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Plaintiff, ESTHER LEONG, individually, and on behalf of all others
similarly situated, by and through undersigned counsel, files this class action
lawsuit against Defendants, SQUARE ENIX OF AMERICA HOLDINGS, INC.,
and SQUARE ENIX, INC. (collectively “Square Enix” or “Defendants”). Plaintiff
alleges as follow upon personal knowledge as to her actions and upon information
and belief as to all other facts alleged in the Complaint:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
1. This is a class action brought by Plaintiff on behalf of a Class of

persons who purchased Defendants’ online games during the period of June 1, 2005
through present (“Class Period”).

2. This case narrowly focuses on Defendants’ deceptive advertising,
unfair practices, and fraudulent concealment to conceal certain critical information
about their online games. The deceptive advertising, unfair and undisclosed
business practices, and concealment concern, among others:

i. Licensing of the online game software disguised as a sale;
ii. Monthly fees (“fees”) to play the online games;
iii. Penalties for late payment of the fees;
iv. Interest charges for late payment of the fees;
v. Charges while the online game account is suspended;
vi. Termination of the right to use the online game for late payment
of the fees;
vii. User restrictions and conditions related to the online games;
viii. Termination of game data for late payment of the fees.

3. Based on Defendants’ false and deceptive advertising, Plaintiff asserts
claims against Defendants under the Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”), Cal. Bus. &
Prof. Code § 17200, et seq., False Advertising Law (“FAL”), Bus. & Prof. Code §
17500, et seq., the Consumer Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”), Cal. Civil Code §
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1750 et seq., and for common law Unjust Enrichment.
PARTIES

4. Plaintiff, Esther Leong, is presently, and at all times material hereto
was a resident of San Francisco, California.

5. On information and belief, SQUARE ENIX OF AMERICA
HOLDINGS, INC. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in
the City of El Segundo, County of Los Angeles, and State of California. On
information and belief, SQUARE ENIX OF AMERICA HOLDINGS was
established in 2006 as a US-based holding company to control management and
operations of the company’s subsidiaries in North America. On information and
belief, SQUARE ENIX, INC. is a Washington corporation with its principal place
of business in the City of El Segundo, County of Los Angeles, and State of
California. Collectively, SQUARE ENIX OF AMERICA HOLDINGS, INC.,, and
SQUARE ENIX, INC. have developed and sold, and continue to sell the online
games, and own and operate the online system through which the online games are
played.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to the Class Action

Fairness Act of 2005, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(a) and 1332(d), because the amount in

controversy exceeds $5 million exclusive of interest and costs, and certain members

of the putative Class are citizens of states other than Defendants’ state of
citizenship. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1367(a).

7. The subject lawsuit is governed by California law, without reference to
its rules regarding conflicts of law pursuant to a written agreement.

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over all Class members regardless

of their place of residence pursuant to a written consent by each of the Class

Case No. 3
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members which states that they “hereby irrevocably submits and consent to the sole
and exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the State of California and of the United
States of America located in the count of Los Angeles.”

9. Venue is proper in this Court because Defendants reside in this
District, and a substantial part of the events alleged in this Complaint giving rise to
Plaintiff’s claims, including the dissemination of the false and misleading
advertising alleged herein, occurred in and were directed from this District.

FACTS

10.  The games at issue are a series of online games developed and
published by Square Enix.

11.  Defendants engaged in various levels of deceptive advertising, unfair
business practices, and fraudulent concealment with respect to the online games at
the point of purchase. The deceptive advertising, unfair and undisclosed business
practices, and concealment concern, among others:

i. Licensing of the online games software disguised as a sale;
ii. Monthly fees (“fees”) to play the online games;
iii. Penalties for late payment of the fees;
iv. Interest charges for late payment of the fees;
v. Charges while the online game account is suspended;
vi. Termination of the right to use the online games for late
payment of the fees;
vii. User restrictions and conditions related to the online games;
viii. Termination of game data for late payment of the fees.
CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
12.  Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of

Civil Procedure 23 on behalf of herself and the following Class:

All persons who purchased or ?layed the online games four
years prior to the filing of this lawsuit to the present. Expressly

Case No. 4
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excluded from the Class are Defendants and their subsidiaries,

affiliates, officers, directors, and employees.

Certification of the Class is appropriate pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. Proc.

23(a). The potential number of Class members as defined is so numerous that

Joinder of all members would be unfeasible and impractical. The disposition of their

claims through this class action will benefit both the parties and this Court. The

number of Class Members is unknown to at this time, however, it is estimated that

the Class will number greater than 100,000. The identity of such membership can

readily be ascertained from Defendants’ online game database.

14.

Plaintiff alleges that two methods of notice to the proposed class will

be contemplated for purposes of this litigation: (1) A notice can be made available

for viewing online at the website where the online games are played; or (2) A

notice can be delivered via direct email to Class Members’ email addresses

obtained from Defendants’ online game database.

15.

Case No.

There are common questions of law and fact, among others, including:

a)  Whether Defendants engaged in materially deceptive, untrue or
misleading advertising in the sale and offer to sell the online games;

b)  Whether Defendants concealed or omitted to state material facts
to the Class in their advertising, marketing, and sale of the online
games;

¢)  Whether Defendants knew, or by the exercise of reasonable care
should have known, that the aforementioned concealment and
omission had the capacity or tendency to confuse and mislead;

d)  Whether Defendants intentionally concealed or omitted to state
material facts to the Class regarding the nature of the transaction
that resulted in the sale of the online games;

e)  Whether Defendants represented that the sale of the online

games confers or involves rights, remedies, or obligations which it

5

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT



http://www.courthousenews.com

N~ - - R - - Y

| N T o T O o S R o R S I O . e T e T e T e T T S S
L= T = L ¥ I Y e~ R - R - - Y« S U T R VS e =]

16.

Wwww.courthousenews.com —_

does not have or involve;

f) Whether, by the misconduct as set forth in this Complaint,
Defendants engaged in unfair and unlawful business practice with
respect to the advertising, marketing, and sale of the online games
in violation of California Business & Professions Code §§ 17200, et
seq.;

g)  Whether, by the misconduct as set forth in this Complaint,
Defendants engaged in unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading
advertising in violation of California Business & Professions Code
§§ 17500, ef seq.;

h)  Whether, by the misconduct as set forth in this Complaint,
Defendants engaged in unfair methods of competition and unfair or
deceptive acts or practices intended to result in the sale of goods to
consumers in violation of California Civil Code § 1750;

1) Whether, as a result of Defendants’ misconduct as alleged in this
Complaint, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to damages,
restitution, equitable relief, and other relief, and the amount and
nature of such relief;

1) Whether Defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable
to the Class, making injunctive relief appropriate;

k)  Whether a Class can be certified pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. Proc.
23(b)(3); and

1) Whether alternatively, a Class can be certified pursuant to Fed.
R. Civ. Proc. 23(b){(2).

Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class, because

Plaintiff and all members of the Class were injured economically by the same

wrongful practices and conduct of Defendants as described in this Complaint.

Case No.
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Plaintiff’s claims arise from the same practices and conduct that gave rise to the
claims of the Class members, and are based on the same legal theories. The only
difference between Plaintiff and the individual members of the Class could be the
amount of damages sustained, which is an amount that can be readily determined,
and does not bar or in any way impair class certification.

17.  Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the
members of the Class. Plaintiff’s interests are the same as, and not in conflict with,
the other members of the Class. Plaintiff’s counsel is experienced in class action
and complex litigation.

18. Questions of law or fact common to the members of the Class
predominate and a class action is superior to individual cases for the fair and
efficient adjudication of the issues presented in this lawsuit, because individual
litigation of the claims of all members of the Class is economically unfeasible and
procedurally impracticable. The individual damages incurred by each Class member
resulting from Defendants’ conduct are too small to warrant the expense of
individual suits. The likelihood of individual members of the Class prosecuting
separate claims is remote, and even if every Class member could afford individual
litigation, the court system would be unduly burdened by individual litigation of
such cases. Individual suits would also present the potential for inconsistent or
contradictory judgments and rulings, and would underscore the delay and expense
to all parties and to the court system resulting from multiple trials of the same
factual issues. Plaintiff knows of no difficulty to be encountered in the
management of this action that would preclude its maintenance as a class action and
certification of the Class under Rule 23(b)(3) is proper.

19. Relief concerning Plaintiff’s rights under the laws herein alleged and
with respect to the Class would be proper. Defendants have acted or refused to act

on grounds generally applicable to the Class, thereby making appropriate final

Case No. 7
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injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief with regard to members of each
Class as a whole and certification of the Class under Rule 23(b)(2) is proper.
COUNT 1
For Violation of the Unfair Competition Law, Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200

20. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations set forth above as if fully
contained herein.

21. Defendants have engaged in unfair, unlawful, and fraudulent business
practices as described in this Complaint, including, but not limited to, disseminating
or causing to be disseminated from the State of California, unfair, deceptive, untrue
or misleading advertising as set forth in this Complaint.

22. By engaging in the above-described unfair and undisclosed business
practices, Defendants committed one or more acts of unfair competition within the
meaning of Unfair Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.

23. Defendants’ acts and practices have deceived and are likely to continue
to deceive members of the Class and impact the public interest. The material false
advertising, undisclosed business practices, and concealment described in this
Complaint are substantial and were directed to all members of the Class with the
purpose and intent of inducing members of the Class to purchase and play the
online game.

24.  Plaintiff and all members of the Class have suffered and continue to
suffer injury as a direct result of Defendants’ unfair and undisclosed business
practices towards consumers.

25. Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and on behalf of the Class, seeks an order
of this Court against Defendants awarding restitution, disgorgement, injunctive
relief and all other relief allowed under § 17200, et seq. plus interest, attorney’s fees

and costs pursuant to, inter alia, Cal. Code of Civ. Proc. § 1021.5.
/
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COUNT 11
For Violation of False Advertising Law, Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500 et

Seq.
26. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations set forth above as if fully

contained herein.

27. Defendants are disseminating advertising from California throughout
the United States and beyond. Defendants disseminated or caused to be
disseminated the materially untrue and misleading advertising, knowingly engaged

in undisclosed business practices, and/or knowingly omitted or concealed the

| material information from advertising described in this Complaint with the intent to

directly or indirectly induce Plaintiff and other members of the Class to purchase
and play the online games.

28.  The advertising in question concealed or omitted information as set
forth the above.

29. When Defendants disseminated the advertising described herein, they
concealed or omitted to certain critical information about the online games and their
business practices with respect to the online games in violation of the Fair
Adpvertising Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500, et seq.

30. Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and on behalf of the Class, seeks
restitution, disgorgement, injunctive relief, and all other relief allowable under §
17500, et seq.

COUNT 111

For Unjust Enrichment Against Defendants Based on Violations Alleged

in Counts I and I1

31. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations set forth above as if fully
contained herein.

32. Asadirect and proximate result of the misconduct and unfair and

Case No. 9
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undisclosed business practices set forth above, Defendants have been unjustly
enriched.

33. Through false advertising, unfair and undisclosed business practices,
and fraudulent concealment in connection with the advertising, marketing,
promotion and sale of the online games, Defendants reaped benefits which resulted
in their wrongful receipt of revenues. Accordingly, Defendants will be unjustly
enriched unless ordered to disgorge those revenues for the benefit of Plaintiff and
the Class.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

l. That this matter be certified as a class action with the Class defined as
set forth above under Fed. R. Civ. P, 23(b)(3), or in the alternative, Fed. R. Civ. P.
23(b)(2), and that the Plaintiff be appointed Class Representative, and her attorneys

be appointed as Class Counsel.

2. That the Court enter an order requiring Defendants to immediately
cease the wrongful conduct as set forth above; enjoining Defendants from
continuing to falsely advertise or conceal material information about the online
games; enjoining Defendants from engaging in the unfair and undisclosed business
practices; and ordering Defendants to engage in a corrective notice campaign;

3. That judgment be entered against Defendants in an amount
underdetermined for unjust enrichment, including disgorgement of profits received
by Defendants as a result of said purchases, appropriate equitable relief, attorney’s
fees and costs of suit;

4, That judgment be entered against Defendants for daméges, statutory
damages, punitive damages, costs of suit, attorney’s fees and injunction; and

5. For prejudgment and post-judgment interest;

/"
/"
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6.  For such other relief as the Cqurt deem just and

Dated: June 18, 2009

Case No.

Michael H. Kim, Esq.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
CIVIL COVER SHEET
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ESTHER LEONG, individually and on behalf of all others simila

rly situated

DEFENDANTS

SQUARE ENIX OF AMERICA HOLDINGS, INC,, a Delaware corporation;

SQUARE ENIX, INC., a Washington corporation, DOES 1-10

(b) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address and Telephone Number. If you are representing

yourself, provide same.)

MAKAREM & ASSOCIATES, APLC, 11601 Wilshire Blvd,, Ste. 2440, Los
Angeles, CA 90025, (310) 312-0299; MICHAEL H. KIM , P.C, 3699 Wilshire

Blvd.,Ste 860, Los Angeles, CA 90010, (213) 639-2500

Attomeys (If Known)

II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an X in one box only.)

0O 1 U.S. Government Plaintifl 0O 3 Federal Question (U.S.
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V1. CAUSE OF ACTION (Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing and write a brief statement of cause. Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity.)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
CIVIL COVER SHEET

VIII(a). IDENTICAL CASES: Has this action been previously filed in this court and dismissed, remanded or closed? ®Ne O Yes
If yes, list case numben(s):

VIII(b). RELATED CASES: Have any cases been previously filed in this court that are related to the present ease? ®No 0 Yes
If yes, list case number(s):

Civil cases are deemed related if a previously filed case and the present case:
(Check all boxes that apply) O A. Arise from the same or closely related transactiens, happenings, or events; or
O B. Call for determination of the same or substantially related or similar questions of law and fact; or
Q1 C. For other reasons would entail substantial duplication of labor if heard by different judges; or
3 D. Involve the same patent, trademark or eopyright, and one of the factors identified above in a, b or ¢ also is present.

IX. VENUE: (When completing the following information, use an additional sheet if necessary.)

(a) Listthe County in this District; California County outside of this District; State if other than Califomia; or Foreign Country, in which EACH named plaintif¥ resides.
0 Check here if the government, its agencies or employees is a named plaintiff, If this box is checked, go to item (b).

County in this District:* Calitornia County outside of this District; State, if other than California; or Foreign Country

San Francisco County

(b) List the County in this District; California County outside of this District; State if other than California; or Fereign Country, in which EACH named defendant resides.
O _ Check here if the povernment, its agencies or employees is a named defendant. I this box is checked, go to item {c).

County in this District:* Calitornia County outside of this District; State, if other than Calitornia; or Foreign Country
The principal place of business for SQUARE ENIX OF AMERICA
HOLDINGS, INC. and SQUARE ENIX, INC is within Los Angeles
County

(e} List the County in this District; California County outside of this District; State if other than Califomia; or Foreign Country, in which EACH elaim arose.
Note: In land condemnation cases, use the location of the tract of land involved.

County in this District:® California County cutside of this District; State, if other than California; or Foreign Country
Los Angeles County

A 4N
* Los Angeles, Orange, San Bernardino, Riversid; & ira (a Barbara, {r s u;r Obispo Counties
Note: In land condemnation cases, use the location ¢f thi fragt off 4ok

|
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X. SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY (OR PRO PE ):

Key to Statistical codes relating to Social Security Cases:

Nature of Sult Code  Abbreviatlon Substantive Statement of Cause of Actlon

861 HIA All claims for health insurance benefits (Medicare) under Title | 8, Part A, of the Social Security Act, as amended.
Also, include claims by hospitals, skilled nursing facilities, etc., for certification as providers of services under the
program. (42 U.5.C. 1935FF(b))

862 BL All claims for “Black Lung” benefits under Title 4, Part B, of Lthe Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969.
(30 U.5.C. 923)

863 DIWC All claims filed by insured workers for disability insurance benefits under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as
amended; plus all claims filed for child’s insurance benefits based on disability. (42 U.5.C. 405(g))

863 DIWW All claims filed for widows or widowers insurance benefits based on disability under Title 2 of the Social Security
Act, as amended. (42 U.5.C. 405(g))

864 SSID All claims for supplemental security income payments based upon disability filed under Title 16 of the Social Security
Act, as amended.

865 RSI All claims for retirement (old age) and survivors benefits under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as amended. (42
U.S.C. (g}
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